IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE 81,981

TFB 92-11532(12C)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complaintant,

vs.

JAMES ALFRED GARLAND,

Respondent.

AMENDED

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James A. Garland Florida Bar No. 027731 Suite 700 20 North Orange Avenue Orlando, Fl. 32801 (407) 843-2684

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Respondent, James A. Garland, will be referred to as Respondent or by name. The Complainant, The Florida Bar, will be referred to by its formal name.

All references to a record on appeal will refer to the transcript of the hearing before the Referee dated January 27, 1994, and January 28, 1994, and will be referred to as (T-) followed by the designated page of the transcript. All references to the Appendix will be referred to as (A-) followed by the designated page.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

The Florida Bar filed an Amended Complaint in this cause on October 4, 1993 (A 1). Hearing was held in Collier County before the Honorable Brenda C. Wilson, County Judge, Designated Referee on January 27, 1994, and January 28, 1994. The Report of the Referee initially did not contain any recommendations as to discipline, and subsequent hearing was held on this aspect of the case. The Report of Referee (A 2) was issued, dated May 19, 1994. This appeal is from that report and is timely filed.

Respondent was appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of Lois Locke in July, 1991. He also served as attorney for the Personal Representative.

The initial Inquiry/Complaint form was initiated by one of two residuary beneficiaries in the Estate of Lois Locke. Prior to closing the estate, Respondent prepared an accounting of time for the services rendered by him as personal representative and as attorney for the estate. The estate consisted of assets valued at approximately \$592,000.00 (T 19 and 127). Attorneys fees incurred were \$22,837.50, and personal representative fees were \$4,692.00

(T 284 and 291), according to the testimony of Pedro Pizarro, accountant for The Florida Bar.

The facts reflect that Respondent was attempting to initiate a computerized time record system (T 35-37). The computer print out appeared not to be accurate (T 66, T 229, T 238, T 239, T 240, T 244).

Poppy Hyre was called as a witness by The Florida Bar. She testified she was the Secretary for Respondent in charge of probate (T 206). She found the inaccuracies in the computer time accounting and drew them to Respondent's attention (T 238). She then attempted to reconstruct the time accounting from the records in the file (T 215, 218). Subsequent to her reconstruction, Respondent and Mrs. Hyre went over her hand written notes (Exhibit 3 and 4) (T 218, 242). The final accounting forwarded to the beneficiaries differs greatly from the computer accounting in that it contains many entries not in the computer accounting, but reflected in the Respondent's file (T 222).

It is the position of The Florida Bar that the time reflected in the final accounting was inflated to justify the fees charged. It is the position of the Respondent, substantiated by the testimony of Mrs. Hyre, that the reconstruction was a good faith effort to make an accurate accounting (T 244), and was not done to justify fees (T 232, 245).

The initial computerized accounting reflects entries for secretaries time. These are not reflected on the final accounting, and there was no charge for secretary time on the accounting forwarded to the beneficiaries (T 207).

Mrs. Hyre was no longer working for Respondent at the time of testimony (T 205).

The testimony of Respondent supports this testimony of the secretary as to preparation of the accountings. This secretary and the Respondent were the only parties testifying as to how the final accountings were prepared.

Respondent forwarded the final accountings for attorney time and personal representative time to the residuary beneficiaries and explained to them the procedure available to have the Probate Court review same, if they objected to the fees (A 3). Both beneficiaries executed a waiver and consent to discharge (A 6). These were presented to the probate court and the estate was closed and the personal representative discharged (A 7).

Within two months one beneficiary complained to The Florida Bar about the fees charged.

It has been the procedure of Respondent when closing an estate, to establish a special account into which funds were deposited to cover such items as final tax return expenses, CPA

fees, etc. (T 153). Monies were, however, transferred into Respondent's general account. Respondent did not discover this until subsequent events drew it to his attention (T 170-171).

John Stagg, one of the residuary beneficiaries, subsequently learned that he had received \$4,000.00 less than his brother. The reason for the disparity was that the beneficiaries had requested a partial distribution in that amount to Keith Stagg (the Complainant's brother) which had been paid (T 184). The Respondent paid John Stagg an additional \$4,000.00 to equalize the beneficiaries (T 185).

John Stagg filed a Complaint with The Florida Bar. The Florida Bar subsequently filed a Complaint alleging various violations by the Respondent in his handling of the Locke Estate. The Respondent, in communicating with the Designated Reviewer for the Local Grievance committee, erroneously indicated that the \$4,000.00 paid John Stagg came from the Estate's special account and that the account, after the payment, contained \$1,093.30. In fact, the special account was subsequently established in which Respondent deposited the remaining \$1,093.30 (T 172 and Exhibit 23).

Expert testimony as to attorneys fees was presented through Mr. Joe B. Cox, who is an attorney in Collier County, where the hearing was held. Mr. Cox admitted to an absence of knowledge

as to probate proceedings in Manatee County, where the estate was filed (T 122). Mr. Cox did testify that a resonable fee would have been in the range of fifteen to eighteen thousand dollars.

The report of the referee includes findings that actions were taken by Respondent to justify fees and that the accounting was false.

Based on the findings of the Referee as reflected in the Report of Referee (A 2), the Referee found Respondent guilty of violation of rules regulating The Florida Bar, and recommended three years suspension, in addition to payment of costs and successful completion of the ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This disciplinary proceeding evolves from the charge by Respondent of attorney fees and personal representative fees in probate proceedings. The estate was filed in Manatee County and involved assets valued at approximately \$592,000.00 (T 19, 20 and Complaint of Mr. Stagg). Total fees charged were \$22,837.50 for attorney fees and \$4,692.00 for personal representative fees (T 284 and 291). This total amount is well within the present fee guidelines.

Accountings for time of personal representative and attorney fees were provided to the two beneficiaries of the estate. A Consent to Discharge was signed by both beneficiaries (λ 5) and the probate estate was discharged (λ 6).

No consideration was given by The Florida Bar or the Referee to the Consent or the Order of Discharge in Probate, which Order directly impacted attorney and personal representative fees.

After the order discharging the estate, one of the beneficiaries filed a Complaint claiming that the fees were excessive. The Florida Bar alleged that the accountings misrepresented the time spent in the handling of the estate, and that they were increased to justify the fees. The testimony of the witness for The Florida Bar, Mrs. Hyre reflects that she reconstructed the accountings from the file after finding that a

computerized accounting was in error. Mrs. Hyre was the probate secretary for Respondent. The accountings were not done to try and justify the fee (T 54-56, T 189, 190, 244).

The Referee, after hearing on the issues, found the Respondent guilty of five violation of rules regulating The Florida Bar. This Report of Referee is flawed in that none of the violations are based on clear and convincing evidence, and many are contrary to the facts presented in the transcript of proceedings.

In addition, the Referee recommended three years suspension for these violations, which is very excessive when viewed in the light of an attorney who has served twenty-nine years without any prior disciplinary violations.

ARGUMENT

I

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE AND ARE CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE

The referee has recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of the following violation of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar:

Rule 4-1.5(a)(1)(2) (Illegal, Prohibited, or Clearly Excessive Fees); rule 4-8.1(a) (knowingly make a fale statement of material fact in connection with a disciplinary matter); Rule 4-8.4(c) (engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation); Rule 4-1.15(a) (Clients' and Third Party Funds to Be Held in Trust); and Rule 5-1.1 (Trust Accounts).

The recommendations of the Referee concerning Rule 4-1.5(a)(1)(2), Rule 4-8.1(a) and Rule 4-8.4(c) are not supported by competent substantial evidence, and, in some instances, the specific findings of fact were not only not proven by clear and convincing evidence, they are contrary to the evidence. The recommendation that the Respondent be found guilty of violating those rules should be rejected. The recommendations of the Referee concerning violations, although technical, of Rule 4-1.15(a) and

Rule 5-1.1 are supported by the evidence; however, such violations were not intentional.

Α.

Rule 4-1.5(a)(1)

Illegal, Prohibited, or Clearly Excessive Fees

The Florida Bar alleged that the Respondent charged an excessive fee that exceeds a reasonable fee to such a degree that it constituted clear, overreaching. The Florida Bar challenged as excessive, not the amount of the attorney fees and personal representative fees, but the total of the attorney fees and the personal representative fees (T 122 and 123).

The Referee has recommended that the Respondent be found to have violated Rule 4-1.5(a)(1). The Findings of Fact supporting that recommendation, numbers 5,7, 14, 15 and 17, were not proven by clear and convincing evidence, and the recommendation and findings are not supported by competent, substantial evidence. Finding of Fact number 17 and the testimony of Joe B. Cox, Esquire, is critical to the Referee's recommendation to this Court. Mr. Cox is a Board Certified Attorney in wills, trusts, estates, and taxation (T 119). He is a member of the highly esteemed firm of Cummings and Lockwood (T 118). The firm is comprised of seven partners, fifteen associates, six paralegals, and support staff (T 139) with offices in Naples, Collier County. The parties stipulated that the

hourly rates of \$120.00 charged by the Respondent as personal representative and \$175.00 as attorney fees were reasonable (T 118). Mr. Cox expressed the opinion that a reasonable fee in this matter (probate) would have been between the range of \$15,000.00 and \$18,000.00, and the fees of either \$27,000.00 or \$32,000.00, whichever, were excessive (T 126). This opinion was based upon Rule 4-1.5(b) and a review of copies of papers taken from the Respondent's files, including correspondence, and the legal file of the probate documents, some documents on real estate, some tax return documents, some time record documents, broker's statements, and some bookkeeping documents (T 125). Mr. Cox did not segregate or breakdown his opinion of a reasonable fee between those of a personal representative and those of an attorney. The witness did not testify that the Respondent did not do the work and spend the time shown on his time accounting (T 142), nor did he question that the time had been spent (T 149 and 150). Mr. Cox reviewed the time accounting and indicated various items that he would question (T 130-137). One of those specific items was the Respondent's charge for the preparation for the time accounting, although he conceded that he was unsure of any precedent on the issue (T 136) and that he was unfamiliar with the practice, requirements, and procedures followed in Manatee County. Mr. Cox testified that in his "shop" the majority of the estates could have been handled by one of his

paralegals (T 151). He further acknowledged that the amount of time required to do a given task would differ depending upon the skill and knowledge of the practitioner, and would be reflected in the hourly rate (T 148). Mr. Cox's hourly rate is \$200.00 an hour (T 139).

The facts reflect that the time placed on the accountings for personal representative and attorney were indeed spent on the estate (T 244).

Mr. Cox said there were times he would have questioned if turned in by an associate (T 130). He admitted he was not testifying that Respondent did not spend the time reflected in the accounting (T 142 and 148).

The Respondent's attorney fee, after refunds, was \$22,837.50, and his personal representative fee was \$4,692.00 (T 284 and T 291). This was based on an estate of \$592,000.00. Comparing the work of the Respondent with that of Mr. Cox is like comparing the provarbial silk purse with a sow's ear. The Respondent believed the time indicated on his accounting was reasonably correct (T 244). It might further be noted that absent from the testimony or consideration by the Referee is any reference to Section 733.617 and Section 733.6171, Florida Statutes (1993), or their predecessors which addressed the manner on which

reasonable fees to personal representatives and attorneys are to be determined. Under those statutes (effective October 1, 1993), a minimum fee, based solely on the value of the estate alone would have been \$12,000.00 for the personal representative, and \$18,000.00 for the attorney, and would have been presumed to be reasonable compensation.

The Respondent was a sole practitioner during the times material to these proceedings and had no paralegals. There is no question but that Mr. Cox could have performed the probate of the estate with the assistance of his experienced staff more speedily and cost effectively. However, that fact and Mr. Cox's questioning of specific items on the accounting does not constitute a definite and firm conviction that the fee exceeds a reasonable fee to such a degree as to constitute clear overreaching or unconscionable demand which is the standard against which the Respondent's conduct must be measured.

В

Rule 4-1.5(a)(2)

Illegal, Prohibited, or Clearly Excessive Fees.

The Florida Bar alleged that the Respondent prepared an accounting of his time which contained misrepresentations as to the

time in order to justify the \$27,529.50 that he had taken as fees during the administration of the estate.

The Referee has recommended that the Respondent be found to have violated Rule 4-1.5(a)(2). The Findings of Fact supporting that recommendation, numbers 4, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13, were not proven by clear and convincing evidence, and the recommendation and findings are not supported by competent, substantial evidence. The Findings of Fact, numbers 9 and 10, are based on unauthenticated and highly prejudicial hearsay that was erroneously admitted into evidence over the objection of counsel.

The only testimony concerning the manner in which the accounting of the Respondent was prepared is his own and that of his former secretary, Poppy Hyre. The print out from the computer did not distinguish between personal representative and attorney time. The Respondent reviewed the print out and told Ms. Hyre what items were personal representative and what items were attorney time (T 214). Ms. Hyre prepared a breakdown reflecting the division of time (T 215). Prior to typing the breakdown, Ms. Hyre reviewed it again with the Respondent, and that was when they discovered the times were not correct. To prepare the accounting, the Respondent went through the file with Ms. Hyre, and they

reconstructed some of the times (T 216). There were no time sheets used in the reconstruction (T 217 - 218). Ms. Hyre testified, the times just "didn't appear right. So we reconstructed the accounting (T 223)." "I believe that Mr. Garland honestly thought these were wrong, and we increased and decreased the times to what he thought they were. (T 64, T 223 and T 242). We reconstructed it, yes (T 234)." The Respondent testified that he had tried to computerize his time records, but that it had been a disaster (T 28). Some of the time slips were entered and some were entered inaccurately and improperly (29 and 70). The Respondent reviewed the print out in an effort to prepare the accounting (T 35). time accounting set forth on the print out was so fowled up that he could not rely on it (T 38). Ms Hyre brought to the Respondent's attention that she did not think that the computerized print out reflected the work that was done on the estate (T 330). Respondent and Ms. Hyre sat down with the files and went through everything to try and make the accounting as accurately as possible (T 54-56 and 71). Most of the items on the computerized printout also appear on the final time accounting (T 63). Some times were increased, some times were decreased, and some were added for work that was not reflected in the print out (T 64). The Respondent testified that he, in good faith, reconstructed the time that had been expended (T 189-190 and 332).

The evidence submitted by The Florida Bar to support its allegations was totally circumstantial, with one exception. Counsel attempted, on a number of occasions, to have Ms. Hyre testify that the Respondent had increased the time accounting to justify the fees which he had received. In an effort to prove that assertion, the Referee allowed The Florida Bar to introduce into evidence, over strenuous objections, Bar Exhibit 25, subsequent to the hearing, to submit Exhibit 26 (T 322-325). Exhibit 25 is a letter addressed to Bar Counsel from Joseph F. McFadden, Bar Investigator, relating to a conference between McFadden and the respondent's former secretary, Poppy Hyre. portion of that letter concerned an interview by Mr. McFadden of Poppy Hyre in which she is related to have stated that she asked Mr. Garland to justify his actions and he stated to her "that he needed to reach the figure of \$27,500.00 in the billing" (T 232-233). Ms. Hyre denied having made such a statement (T 232). Exhibit 25 was admitted upon Bar Counsel's representation ".... This is hearsay, no doubt about it, but it's admissible in this proceeding and you can consider it for whatever purpose you want to consider it for." The Exhibit was not offered to impeach the testimony of the witness. As Bar Counsel advised the Referee "It's is being offered solely to show what Ms. Hyre had told my Bar

Investigator. That is the reason it is offered" (T 323). As the Court will note by reference to Findings of Fact Number 10, the Referee has literally used the Exhibit for any purpose she saw fit; namely, to fashion a Finding of Fact based upon hearsay, three times removed from its reputed source, to establish the truth of the matter asserted within the hearsay, i.e., that the Respondent admitted that the times were altered to justify the fees he had taken, even over denial of the statement by Mrs. Hyre (T 232). While it is true that this Court has held that hearsay is admissible, and there is no right to confront witnesses face to face in Bar discipline proceedings, The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986), hearsay in most administrative proceedings, while admissible, is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of act, 120.58(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1993), which is what the referee did. It is not suggested that Bar Counsel should be required to comply with the Florida Evidence Code or that hearsay may not, under the proper circumstances, be admissible in Bar Disciplinary Proceedings. It is, however, suggested that hearsay has never been a basis upon which an administrative finding may be fashioned and that even disciplinary proceedings, there should be some minimal standard of due process. If determinations may be made based upon evidence of Exhibits 25 and 26, then the existence of witnesses, lawyers,

judges, and the procedures applicable to Bar proceedings are superfluous and should be replaced by a system whereby Bar Investigators simply mail their reports to The Supreme Court, who would then impose sanctions.

The Referee chose to believe the testimony of Mr. Stagg that the Respondent had misrepresented his hourly rate as \$120.00 as personal representative and as attorney rather than \$175.00 an hour (Findings of Fact No. 8). In light of the Referee's consideration of Exhibit 25, it would have been surprising had she not accepted Mr. Stagg's testimony as accurate. Ordinarily, a finding based on credibility of a witness is presumed to be correct; however, in this cause, Mr. Stagg testified by telephone and the Respondent's credibility was so damaged by the erroneous admission of Exhibit 25, that the recommendation should be rejected. Also, Mr. Stagg knew the monetary amount before executing the waiver.

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