# FILED

SID J WHITE SEP 19 1994

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. TFB No. 81,981

92-11,532(12C)

JAMES ALFRED GARLAND,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

OF

THE FLORIDA BAR

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 376183

#

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

II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATIONS AS TO DISCIPLINARY MEASURES ARE SUPPORTED BY CASE LAW AND THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS.

The Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended for a period of three (3) years, and thereafter until he proves rehabilitation and for an indefinite period until Respondent pays the cost of these proceedings and makes restitution to the beneficiaries of the Locke estate, in the amount of \$9,529.50; and until Respondent passes the ethics portion of the Florida Bar examination (RR, p. 5, §IV).

Respondent contends that the recommended penalty in this case is excessive (AIB p. 27). Respondent's conclusion is based on a false premise, that his only ethical violations were unintentional violations of trust accounting procedures and commingling of funds. The cases cited by Respondent in support of his position do not involve misconduct similar to the misconduct of Respondent.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Johnson</u>, 526 So. 2d 53, (Fla. 1988) cited in Respondent's Amended Initial Brief (AIB p. 27), the court ordered a public reprimand plus restitution of \$2,268.78 because Johnson took \$4,716.78 as legal fees from an estate, and the court determined that a reasonable fee would be \$2,500.00. That was the sole issue in the Johnson case.

Unlike <u>Johnson</u>, the Referee in the instant case found that Respondent misappropriated estate funds, that he charged excessive amounts of time for the given tasks, that he fraudulently altered time records, that he charged attorney fees for secretarial time, that he double billed for research on the codicil issue, that he

made misrepresentations to the beneficiaries as to time spent and the hourly rates that he intended to charge, that he submitted a false accounting that contained intentional misrepresentations, and that he lied to the Bar's investigator and the Bar Grievance Committee. (see RR)

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hosner</u>, 513 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 1987), which was also cited by Respondent, this Court found that a public reprimand was appropriate for Hosner's negligent failure to follow trust accounting rules.

Unlike Hosner, the Referee in the present case found Respondent's misconduct involved intentional rather than negligent acts in that he misappropriated funds; he sought and secured a fee by means of intentional misrepresentation or fraud; he lied to the residual beneficiaries; and he lied to the Bar investigator and the Bar grievance committee in effort an to conceal his misappropriation of Estate funds. Respondent engaged in several violations of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar which were "intentional", not negligent; therefore, a suspension is required.

Respondent also cited <u>The Florida Bar v. Suprina</u>, 468 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1985) as authority that a suspension is an excessive penalty for his misconduct (AIB, p. 27). In <u>Suprina</u>, the lawyer was given a public reprimand for mishandling of trust funds, conduct adversely reflecting on fitness to practice law, improper advance of loans to clients, improper contact with opposing party represented by counsel, commingling of personal funds with trust funds, and improper trust account record keeping. <u>Suprina</u>, 468 So.

2d at 989. The referee found that no deficits or overdrafts resulted from the improper use and commingling of personal funds in the trust account. <u>Suprina</u>, 486 So. 2d at 989.

In the Respondent's case there were funds that were unaccounted for through the date of the evidentiary hearing (RR, p. 4, ¶24). In addition, the Referee found that Respondent's multiple offenses included misrepresentations to the beneficiaries of the Locke Estate (RR, p. 3, ¶12, 16, p. 2, ¶8) and the misappropriation of funds from the Estate (RR, p. 2, ¶4, p. 3, ¶14, p. 4, ¶24). The Referee found as an aggravating factor that Respondent submitted false statements and engaged in other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process (RR, p. 6, ¶2). The nature of Respondent's misconduct is more serious than that of Suprina.

The discipline recommended by the Referee is not excessive based on recent case law involving misconduct similar to that of Respondent and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

In The Florida Bar v. Shuminer, 567 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 1990), the Referee found that Shuminer misappropriated trust funds from several clients; that he settled a client's case without the prior οf knowledge and consent the client; and that he misrepresentations client to a in order to conceal defalcations.

The Referee found in mitigation: an absence of a prior disciplinary offense, great personal and emotional problems, a timely and good faith effort at restitution, cooperation with the Bar, inexperience in the practice of law, good character and

reputation, and remorse which the Referee felt was genuine.

The Referee recommended that Shuminer be suspended from the practice of law for eighteen months. On review, the Supreme Court held that disbarment was the appropriate discipline for the Shuminer's misconduct, notwithstanding the numerous mitigating factors found by the Referee. The Court stated as follows: "In the hierarchy of offenses for which lawyers may be disciplined, stealing from a client must be among those at the very top of the list." Shuminer at 432 and 433.

The Respondent's misconduct in the instant case is analogous, to <u>Shuminer</u>. Like Shuminer, the Respondent misappropriated client funds (RR, p. 2, ¶4). Respondent transferred funds from the Locke Estate account to his trust account and then to his operating account in payment of fees he had not earned (RR, p. 2, ¶4). Respondent misappropriated funds from the Locke Estate by paying himself fees from the trust account in excess of the fees he was entitled to receive for the hours of services he provided (RR, p. 4, ¶22).

Like Shuminer, Respondent made intentional misrepresentations to conceal his defalcations by misrepresenting the time Respondent worked on the estate case and the hourly fee rates which Respondent intended to charge (RR, p. 3, ¶12, p. 2, ¶8). Respondent submitted a false time accounting which contained intentional misrepresentations and which represented that Respondent was entitled to fees of \$27,529.50, based on altered time records. Thereafter, Respondent paid himself an additional \$4,236.56 for

unearned and unjustified fees (RR, p. 3, ¶14).

Respondent also made an intentional misrepresentation to The Florida Bar grievance committee. Respondent falsely advised The Florida Bar grievance committee that \$5,093.30 of Locke Estate funds had been deposited in a special savings account for the estate, when the funds had been paid to Respondent and placed in Respondent's general account (RR, p. 4, ¶21).

Like Shuminer, the Respondent does not have a prior disciplinary record. However, unlike Shuminer, the Respondent has not made full restitution to the Estate in that he still owes the Estate \$9,529.50 (RR, p. 5).

The evidence established that Respondent prepared time slips for work performed on the Locke Estate contemporaneous with the services rendered (RR, p. 2, ¶9(a)). Since Respondent destroyed the time slips, it is impossible to determine the exact number of hours Respondent actually worked on the Locke Estate and the exact fee Respondent was actually entitled to receive. However, the Bar's expert witness testified that a reasonable fee for handling the Locke Estate would be between \$15,000.00 and \$18,000.00 (RR, p. 4, ¶17). The Referee accepted Mr. Cox's expert testimony and found that Respondent overcharged and misappropriated from the Locke Estate \$9,529.50 (RR, p. 5, \$IV, A). (This sum is reached by subtracting \$18,000.00 from \$27,529.50, the sum Respondent received from the Estate after subtracting several refunds totaling approximately \$5,400.00 made by Respondent after the Estate was closed.) Respondent has failed to make restitution to the Estate,

and Respondent continues to maintain that he earned the fees (AIB, p. 26,  $\P5$ ).

Unlike Shuminer, the Respondent did not cooperate in the disciplinary proceedings in that he lied to the grievance committee and he refused to answer even the simplest of questions asked by Bar counsel during the final hearing in this cause (TR, p. 97-100, 105-106). Also, unlike Shuminer, Respondent does not have a good reputation in the legal community as testified to by two lawyers presented by the Bar (TR, pp. 60-71, 190-195).

In The Florida Bar v. MacMillen, 600 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1992), The Florida Bar filed a five-count complaint alleging misconduct relating to MacMillan's duties as guardian of the property which the minor Scott T. Ellison (Ellison) received from his deceased father's estate. As guardian, MacMillan received six pieces of the father's jewelry to hold until Ellison reached the age of majority. In anticipation of Ellison's eighteenth birthday, MacMillan delivered three pieces of jewelry to Ellison's mother, who was the guardian of Ellison's person. MacMillan was unable to locate the other three pieces of jewelry.

In addition, MacMillan transferred \$4,000.00 from the Ellison guardianship account to his personal account. MacMillan reimbursed the entire amount to the guardianship account within two weeks of the original transfer, and notified the mother of the transfer and reimbursement. However, MacMillan filed a Return of Guardian of Property with the Circuit Court which reported neither the withdrawal nor the reimbursement.

The Referee recommended that MacMillan be suspended from the practice of law for a period of two years, after finding in absence of a prior disciplinary record, an cooperative attitude toward the proceedings, a timely good faith effort to make restitution, and good character and reputation. The Referee also found in aggravation, substantial experience in the dishonest or selfish practice οf law. motive in the misappropriation of the \$4,000.00, a pattern of misconduct regarding the handling of quardianship property, an apparent coverup to the court in not revealing the transactions involving the \$4,000.00, and the existence of multiple offenses.

MacMillen argued that the Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he intended to misappropriate funds from Ellison. He also claimed there was no evidence to support the Referee's conclusion that the omissions of the transfers from the Return of Guardian of property was an intentionally dishonest act.

The Supreme Court found that the record supported the Referee's findings that both the misappropriation of funds and the failure to disclose the transfers in the guardian's report were intentional acts. The Supreme Court reiterated its repeatedly asserted position that misuse of client funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit and that disbarment is presumed to be the appropriate discipline. However, the Court also stated that the presumption of disbarment can be rebutted by various acts of mitigation, such as cooperation and restitution.

MacMillan, 600 So. 2d at 460. Based on the mitigating factors

found by the Referee in <u>MacMillan</u>, the Court approved the Referee's report and suspended MacMillan from the practice of law for two years.

Respondent's misconduct in the instant case is more serious than Macmillan's misconduct, making a three year suspension more appropriate in this case. Like MacMillen, the Respondent misappropriated client funds. (RR, p. 1, ¶3, p. 2, ¶4, p. 3, ¶12-16, p. 4, ¶19-22 and 24). However, unlike MacMillan, Respondent has not made full restitution of the funds he misappropriated, as previously set forth. Like MacMillan, Respondent does not have a prior disciplinary record, but unlike MacMillan, Respondent was not cooperative with The Florida Bar. Unlike MacMillan, Respondent made intentional misrepresentations to a grievance committee and to the beneficiaries who bore the impact of his thefts, in order to conceal his defalcations.

In The Florida Bar v. Williams, 604 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 1992), the Referee found multiple violations that included misrepresentation to the grievance committee. Patricia Williams (Williams) was retained by Melvin Judge (Judge) to represent him in a criminal case. Williams received a quitclaim deed on real property as security for her fee in representing Judge. Williams recorded the deed and mortgaged the property for \$25,000.00. When Williams appeared before the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee, in unsworn testimony, she stated that she had no money from that property and no mortgage on it that she was aware of. At the time of Williams' comment, she had, in fact, received money from the property, had a mortgage issued, funded, and recorded regarding the property.

In addition to lying to the grievance committee, Williams had issued a worthless check for a payment toward the mortgage on the land deeded to her by Judge, and an audit showed that she had numerous trust accounting violations. Moreover, Williams had accepted representation of a Ms. Annie Ingraham and her minor son in an action against the Dade County School Board. Williams had Ms. Ingraham and her son sign a retainer that gave Williams forty percent of any award or settlement. At the time that the contingency agreement was executed the statutory limitation on such cases was twenty-five percent of recovery. Williams also failed to pursue the legal matter for Ms. Ingraham and her son, then had the case dismissed without ever discussing the action with her client.

The Referee found Williams guilty of violating Disciplinary Rule 2-106(A) (a lawyer shall not enter into an agreement, charge, or collect an illegal or clearly excessive fee) of the former Code of Professional Responsibility.

The Referee recommended a public reprimand and a ninety day suspension from the practice of law with automatic reinstatement. However, The Florida Supreme Court agreed with The Florida Bar that the Williams' case rose to the level of disbarment. In so ruling, the Court noted Williams' lack of diligence in representing clients on two separate cases. The Court also viewed Williams' trust account violations as serious transgressions. Further, the Court

applied Standard 9.22 of Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions and found the following aggravating factors:

multiple offenses, dishonest motive, prior disciplinary offenses, submission of false statements or deceptive statements during the disciplinary process, and vulnerability of victims.

The Court found Williams' false and misleading statement to the Eleventh Circuit Grievance Committee concerning whether she had mortgaged the property in question or received any money from the property to be a serious aggravating factor. The Court cited several cases where attorneys had been suspended for lying and said, "Dishonesty and a lack of candor cannot be tolerated in a profession built upon trust and respect for the law." Williams, 604 So. 2d at 451.

The only mitigating factor was Williams inexperience in the practice of law.

The Court found that Williams cumulative misconduct demonstrated an attitude and course of conduct that was inconsistent with Florida's standards for professional conduct and warranted disbarment.

Like Williams, Respondent charged and collected an illegal or clearly excessive fee by altering his time records, by fraudulently increasing the hours of services he and his staff performed in regard to the administration of the Locke Estate, and by charging his hourly rate for his staff's time (RR, p. 2, ¶9). Like Williams, Respondent made an intentional misrepresentation to a grievance committee to conceal his misconduct (RR, p. 4, ¶21). In

addition, like Williams, Respondent had trust account violations. (RR, p. 1,  $\P 3$ , p. 2,  $\P 4$ , 21, 22, and 24). Respondent's dishonesty and lack of candor should not be tolerated. Williams was disbarred for misconduct that was less egregious than that of Respondent.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support the Bar's position that a three year suspension is not an excessive discipline for the Respondent's misconduct. The following sections of the Standards apply in the instant case:

Standard 4.1 (failure to preserve the client's property);
4.11 Absent aggravating or mitigating factors, Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury to a client.

## Standard 4.6: (Lack of Candor)

4.61 Absent aggravating or mitigating factors, disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally deceives a client, with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another regardless of injury or potential injury.

Standard 9.2: (Aggravation);

- 9.22(d) multiple offenses; (RR, p. 5, §5, ¶A, 1)
- 9.22(f) submission of false statements or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process; (RR, p. 6,  $\P$ A, 2)
- 9.22(g) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct; (RR, p. 6,  $\P A$ , 3)
- 9.22(h) vulnerability of victim; (RR, p. 6, ¶A,4)
- 9.22(i) substantial experience in the practice of law; (RR, p. 6,

¶A 5) and

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